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1
ABSTRACT

An archaeological evaluation was undertaken by AOC Archaeology Group from 21st to 23rd February 2007 in advance of the development of a site on the south side of Hart Street, Henley-on-Thames. The aim of the evaluation was to assess the impact of the redevelopment on any surviving archaeological remains. 

The evaluation comprised three machine excavated trenches within the footprints of proposed buildings. The main features identified were a possible medieval foundation, an 18th century quarry that had been backfilled and the remains of the workers’ cottages that had stood until recently. One of these structures had a basement.
Overall, archaeological deposits are present, but these are of post-medieval date. It is thought that earlier deposits, had they been present, would have been largely truncated by post-medieval activity.

2 Introduction


Site Location (Figures 1 & 2)

2.1
The site is centred on National Grid Reference (NGR) SU 7612 8259, and is situated between Hart Street and Friday Street in Henley (Figure 1). The area affected by the development covers a total area of approximately 180m2. It is located on the south side of Hart Street, one of the oldest streets in the town. 
2.2 The site was most recently occupied by two rows of workers cottages, which had gradually fallen into disrepair and are now demolished. The cottages have been subject to a Historic Building Record, and they appear to have been occupied by the poorest of workers. Of the two properties that face onto Hart Street, No 6 is Grade II listed.

Planning Background

2.3
The Listed building description is as follows: 

HART STREET (South Side) No 6 C18. In 2 parts. East side, red brick. West side, slightly later and upper floors of silver grey bricks with red brick quoins and window surrounds. Hipped, old tiled roof with moulded, bracketed cornice. 3 storeys, 3 windows, including 1 canted, lst floor bay, all sashes with glazing bars. Altered C19 shop front and carriageway with panelled doors on ground floor. 

2.4
The local planning authority is South Oxfordshire District Council. Archaeological advice to the council is provided by Paul Smith, County Archaeologist. The site lies within the Henley Conservation Area and a number of Listed Buildings are within the immediate vicinity of the site.

2.5
In accordance with Planning Policy Guidance: Archaeology and Planning (PPG 16) issued by the Department of the Environment in 1990 (DoE, 1990) and the recommendations of the archaeological advisor, an archaeological investigation was carried out as a condition of the planning permission (Application No P06/E0210). This followed the production of a Desk Based Assessment (AOC 2005) The methodology was presented in a Written Scheme of Investigation (AOC 2006), designed in accordance with current best archaeological practice and local and national standards and guidelines: 

· English Heritage – Management of Archaeological Projects (EH 1991).

· Institute of Field Archaeologists – Standard and Guidance for Archaeological Field Evaluations (IFA 1994).

· Institute of Field Archaeologists – Code of Conduct (IFA 1997).

Geology and Topography

2.6 The British Geological Survey map (BGS Sheet 254) shows the solid geology to be chalk overlain by Pleistocene terrace gravels capped by silts that derive from the River Thames.

2.7
The site drops from a level of 32.19m OD near the street front to 31.78m OD at the rear of the site. This gradual slope is represented in the underlying gravel deposits. The slope had been slightly terraced to form platforms for cottages in the late 18th or 19th centuries.

3
HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL BACKGROUND.

3.1 The information summarised in this section has been drawn from the WSI (AOC 2006).

Prehistoric

3.2 The oldest artefacts discovered within 1km of the site are two Palaeolithic hand axes. Evidence from later prehistory is also present: a Neolithic or Bronze Age retouched flint flake was recovered during a watching brief at the Brewery on New Street, just to the east; Bronze Age pottery has also been discovered in Henley, although the exact findspot is unknown. An Iron Age sword was discovered in the Thames in 1971, approximately 350m southeast of the site.


Roman
3.3 A Roman road runs from Dorchester to Henley, and there is evidence for buildings at Bell Street: a flint wall and post-holes are present, and pits containing metalwork and other finds suggest a high status settlement. In addition several isolated finds have been recorded in the vicinity of the site, including four Roman coins, pottery, daub and burnt flint. 
Saxon

3.4 No Saxon remains have been recorded in the area.


Medieval
3.5 Henley is a medieval borough containing numerous medieval remains such as houses, churches, barns and public houses. In 1205, a grant was given to pave the roads and by 1209 a town guild was in existence. The first reference to a bridge occurs in 1234 and to St. Mary’s the Virgin Church in 1272. The bridge is situated at the eastern end of Hart Street, which is therefore a major thoroughfare of the town. The development of properties along the streetfront was accompanied by burgage plots behind: these strips of land were originally used as gardens or extra space for outbuildings, workshops, stables and occasionally additional cottages.
3.6 By 1300 Henley was an established major grain market for London. Many London merchants hired houses and plots to keep produce they had bought, or goods to sell. Outside of London, Henley is the only other place for cornmongers to have owned granaries. That it was a prime focus point for marketing and collecting of grain derives from the fact that shipping costs rose significantly beyond Henley. Goods for Oxford would be unshipped at Henley and taken overland. Similarly, grain from the manors surrounding Henley was brought for bulking and transport by boat to London. As a result Henley formed a major commercial focus for the wheat-lands of the surrounding regions.

3.7 Further expansion in the 14th century produced Bell Street, New Street and Friday Street. Badgemoore Lane and the Bridge, said to have had shops on either side of it, defined the other medieval town boundaries. The properties fronting the street would have had burgage plots behind.

3.8 Excavations on Hall Street have identified flint foundations for a rectory, together with a roadside ditch. Among the finds from the site were pottery, a golden charm brooch and amber beads. To the southwest of the site a medieval silver cross penny dating to the 13th or 14th century was found.


Post-Medieval
3.9 There are extensive post-medieval remains and buildings in Henley. On Hart Street alone there are 39 Listed Buildings.

3.10 A medieval moated manor at Phyllis Court, to the north-east of Market Place, was rebuilt in 1648 after being damaged during the civil war. The economic role of trade via river transport remained viable in the early post-medieval period. Henley became an important centre for malting as evidenced by the malthouses on the northern site of Hart Street and a malthouse to the east of the site. Archaeological excavations in the area have identified housing at Bell Street, a glassworks site approximately 100m to the north of the site, and a series of 16th century earth floors and ovens were discovered on a small area of street frontage.

3.11 Title deeds dating back to 1873 give detailed information regarding the 19th century history of the site. These illustrate plot boundaries and ownership records. The earliest title deed available is dated 1840 and records that two cottages were sold by Mr Evans to Mr Cripps. The 1841 deed records the sale of Lot 3 by Mr Hobbs to Mr Cripps. In 1852 a Mr Glover sold property in Barlows Yard to Mr Carter, which was then sold in 1854 to Mr Cripps.

3.12 In 1868 a deed records the sale of land by Mr Dunkwater and others to Messrs Hews and Webb. In 1872 Lots 2 and 4 were sold by William Jemmett (who owned No 6 Hart Street) to Messrs Hews and Webb. The cottages were then sold in 1873 by Messrs Hews and Webb to Mr Riggs. There were 6 cottages on the eastern side of the site and 5 cottages on the western side.

3.13 The remains of the cottages were recorded in January 2007 (AOC 2007), and were in poor condition, with chimney stacks and brick floors the best surviving elements. The walls were flint, with brick quoins and chimneystacks.

4
Strategy

Aims of the Investigation

4.1
The aims of the evaluation were identified in the Written Scheme of Investigation (AOC 2006) as being:

· To establish the presence/absence of archaeological remains within the site.

· To determine the extent, condition, nature, character, quality and date of any archaeological remains encountered.

· To record and sample excavate any archaeological remains encountered.

· To assess the ecofactual and environmental potential of any archaeological features and deposits.

· To determine the extent of previous truncations of the archaeological deposits.

· To enable Paul Smith, County Archaeologist, to make an informed decision on the status of the condition on the planning permission, and any possible requirement for further work in order to satisfy that condition.

· To make available to interested parties the results of the investigation in order to inform the mitigation strategy as part of the planning process.

4.2 The specific objectives of the Evaluation were to:

· Determine the presence of any remains of prehistoric date.

· Determine the presence of any remains of medieval date on the site.

· Assess the potential of the site to inform on the post-medieval development and chronology of Henley.

· Assess the degree and extent to which archaeological deposits have been truncated by later activity.

4.3 The final aim was to make public the results of the investigation, subject to any confidentiality restrictions.

Methodology
(Figure 3)
4.4 Prior to commencing work an accession number for the project (OXCMS: 2006.132) was obtained.

4.5 The Evaluation was planned to comprise the machine excavation of 3 no 5m x 2.0m trenches at base. Site constraints resulted in the slight relocation of the trenches and some widening: Trench 1 was located to the northwest of the site, Trench 2 to the east, and Trench 3 to the south. All trenches were oriented north-south. Following machine excavation, archaeological horizons were cleaned, with selected hand excavation of archaeological features where present.

4.6 All machining was carried out by a 1.4 ton excavator with a toothless ditching bucket, under the constant supervision of the Archaeological Project Supervisor. Undifferentiated topsoil or overburden of recent origin was removed in successive level spits down to the first significant archaeological horizon. Excavated material was examined in order to retrieve artefacts to assist in the analysis of their spatial distribution. The natural geology was encountered in each of the trenches. The potential archaeological horizons were cleaned by hand immediately after machine stripping to locate archaeological deposits or cut features. Sections requiring recording were cleaned by hand.

4.7 A full black and white, and colour (35mm transparency) photographic record was maintained. This illustrates the principal features and finds both in detail and in a general context. The photographic record also includes working shots to represent more generally the nature of the fieldwork. Digital photography was used to supplement the record on film.

4.8 All identified finds and artefacts were collected and retained. No finds have been discarded, and any that are suggested for discard will follow prior approval of Paul Smith.

4.9 The evaluation was conducted by the author under the overall management of Ron Humphrey. The site was monitored by Paul Smith, the County Archaeological Officer.

5
Results

Trench 1, 5.5m by 2.8m at surface (Figure 4)

5.1 Trench 1 was located in the northwestern part of the site, and was widened to enable access to a notably deep feature.

5.2 The lowest deposit in the trench was loose sand and gravel (1/013) at a high point of 31.10m OD and sloping down gradually to the south. This was sealed by a deposit of soft mid orange-brown silty clay (1/012) that is interpreted as brickearth, and was of alluvial origin. Overlying this was a layer of soft yellowish brown silty clay with occasional flints (1/011) that appeared undisturbed and was subsoil. 

5.3 The earliest feature in the trench was a shallow construction trench, just 0.16m deep, oriented east-west [1/014]. This contained roughly squared blocks of flint mortared together with coarse white lime mortar to form a foundation (1/010). Only a single course of the foundation survived, and was partially disturbed by modern roots. The construction trench was backfilled with redeposited subsoil (1/015). Against the north side of the foundation was a small patch of hard orange-brown silty clay spreading northwards for up to 0.30m (1/009). It was just 0.05m thick and sealed the fill of the construction trench. Later truncation made the interpretation of this deposit difficult. However, it is possible to interpret this as the remnant of a floor surface contemporary with the wall foundation. The foundation and the silty clay were both also truncated by a modern service run (1/001) to the east.

5.4 The next phase of features post-dated the demolition of the building represented by the foundation. The probable floor surface was truncated by a large pit 1.74m deep with a flat base [1/008]. The building must have been razed by this time, for it would have collapsed into the pit. However, no demolition debris was apparent. The pit had steep sides, and was cut deeply into the natural gravel. It may therefore be primarily a quarry pit rather than a refuse pit. It was seen to measure 4.09m by 2.40m within the trench, and this may represent around a quarter of the pit; it continued northwards and westwards beyond the limit of excavation.

5.5 The primary fill of the pit (1/007) was very dark greyish brown clayey silt, and seemed to have some organic content. At least part of the fill derived from food waste: animal bones and shellfish are both evidence of diet, the shellfish including oyster and cockles. Pottery within the deposit is predominately post-medieval, and consists of sherds of dishes, bowls and jugs: basic utilitarian domestic vessels. There are also two late medieval sherds, but the finds assemblage indicates a date of 1680-1800. Fragments of pegtile in the deposit indicate the presence of buildings nearby: they could easily have come from the properties fronting Hart Street.
5.6 The secondary fill of the pit (1/006) was dark brown clayey silt and contained similar dating evidence in the form of pottery, and food waste in the form of occasional animal bone and oyster shell. It did not contain a high proportion of household waste; neither was industrial waste a character of the deposit. There were few tip-lines apparent either, suggesting rapid infilling of the pit. One interesting find was a large block of roughly hewn limestone. It had a slot resembling a mortice incised into one side, and may have once held a doorframe or similar structural element. Interestingly, this fill spilled beyond the edge of the pit, sealing the earlier foundation. This may be an indication of ground being made up simultaneously with the pit being filled. The upper profile of this layer formed a dip towards the centre of the pit, which was filled by further deposits. The third fill may be a consolidation layer added after the main fill had slumped; it was a layer of crushed chalk (1/005). This was in turn sealed by a thicker deposit of yellowish brown silty clay that resembled brickearth (1/004). It contained occasional fragments of CBM and fragments of chalk.

5.7 The top fill of the hollow left by the pit or quarry was dark grey sandy clay (1/003) that was quite mixed, and seems likely to have been dumped as a final levelling or consolidation layer prior to the establishment of cottages in the late 18th or early 19th century. The cottages mostly had brick floors, and the uppermost feature in the trench was the remnant of such a floor (1/002) at a height of 32.19mOD. A sample of the brick floor was taken, and it seems that the bricks were machine-made, of 19th century date. The latest event recorded in the trench was the addition of a drain (1/001), which ran along the eastern edge of the trench, and was seen to continue to the rear of the property.

Trench 2, 5m by 2.1m (Figure 5)

5.8 Trench 2 was located to the east of the site.

5.9 The lowest deposit in this trench was naturally deposited sand and gravel (2/006), lying at 31.04m OD in the north of the trench, and truncated deeper in the south. The sand and gravel was quite loose, as seen in Trench 1. This was sealed by a layer of brown clayey silt 0.09m thick, which was subsoil (2/005). Occasional flecks of chalk were in this deposit, but it did not appear to have been significantly disturbed or reworked. 

5.10 The subsoil was sealed by a deposit 0.94m deep that was very dark brown silty clay loam with some humic content (2/004). Finds within this deposit indicated an 18th century date, perhaps towards the latter half of the century, as shown by a clay tobacco pipe of a style manufactured until around 1770. The 0.94m depth of this deposit is interpreted as the result of repeated reworking of the soil, possibly over many centuries. It resembled a garden soil, and it may be considered that the rear of the properties fronting onto Hart Street were burgage plots, used for cultivation and gardening. 

5.11 The garden soil had been truncated by a large cut 1.40m deep for a cellar of one of the cottages erected on site in the 19th century (2/007). The destination of the excavated soil cannot be proved, but it is possible that it was used to backfill the quarry pit found in Trench 1. One cellar wall was located, and this was the northern wall (2/001). It was built of roughly coursed flint blocks bonded with lime mortar, and topped by six courses of brick. There did not appear to be any floor to the cellar. The lowest deposit in the cellar was a layer of black silt (2/009), which appeared to be sooty or coal-rich. This may be evidence that the cellar was actually a coal store, or may even be evidence that the associated cottage burnt down.

5.12 North of the cellar wall, the garden soil was sealed by a thin spread of shattered roof tile (2/003). The origin of this deposit is unclear, but it does not relate directly to the cottages known to have stood on site, and is thought to predate them. The source of the tile could be a demolished building in the locale, or waste imported to the site to consolidate the ground below in advance of the cottages’ construction. The tiles were sealed by another layer of made ground (2/002), dark brown sandy silt. This deposit is thought to have underlain the floor of a cottage. There was no evidence for a brick floor and it was most likely comprised of boards over joists. 

5.13 The cellar was infilled with building material and discarded belongings (2/008). The building material is likely to have come from the superstructure of the cottage above, and included bricks, occasional flint, occasional square cut timbers likely to have been joists; also pipes and wires. There were very few roofing materials. Some of the timbers were charred but there seemed to be insufficient evidence to prove destruction by fire: it seemed more likely that the building collapsed into itself. The discarded belongings were largely metal, and included parts of an iron-framed cot, springs from a mattress, parts of a bicycle frame, an art deco gas heater, a rusted kettle, the centrepiece of a floral pattern dinner service, and some heavily corroded fittings.

Trench 3, 5m by 2m, Figure 6

5.14 Trench 3 was located towards the south of the site, and was on a level area of ground thought likely to have been slightly terraced to create a level platform for the 19th century cottages.

5.15 The lowest deposit was yellowish brown silty clay (3/007) that had the character of brickearth. This lay at 30.47m OD. It was not removed, since the base of a post hole was identified [3/006]. The posthole was only 0.11m deep, and was approximately circular, 0.28m by 0.31m. It had a rounded base, and the fill was mid grey silty clay (3/005). This feature is presumed to have been cut from higher than the brickearth, its associated occupation horizon having been removed by reworking of the deposit above.

5.16 The feature and subsoil were sealed by a thick layer of dark brown clayey silty loam (3/003) that resembled a garden soil, and was identical to the garden soil seen in Trench 2. This was 0.90m deep, and had clearly been reworked until the late 18th or early 19th century, as would be expected in a burgage plot with its origins in the medieval period. One high-status find from the deposit is part of a Dutch wall tile which would have come from a house of high status, but discarded once broken. A small copper alloy thimble was also collected during excavation, a small detail of someone’s personal life. A large flint flake within the deposit is thought to be of post-medieval date, probably struck to create a flat edge of flint walling.
5.17 The garden soil was sealed by made ground (3/002) which was likely to be of 19th century date, and was a levelling layer added to make the ground up prior to the laying of a level brick floor for one of the cottages (3/001) at a height of 31.77mOD. The bricks of this floor were identical to those used in the floors of all other cottages, were notably hard wearing, and were in good condition. The use of the same building materials indicates a common source for the building materials, and a common date for the cottage construction.

5.18 The cottages on the site had been recently fully demolished, and a collection of household fittings and goods were retained for donation to the archive. These include ornate gas mantles, stoneware jars and several ornamental vases including part of a glass object coloured ‘cranberry’.

Finds

5.19 The finds assemblage is dominated by pottery, animal bone and building materials. The best assemblages derive from the late 18th to early 19th century, immediately prior to the construction of cottages on the site, but much of the pottery is of fabric and form manufactured over a period of two hundred years. An assemblage of household objects from recent clearance of the site has been retained, and is a good example of modern finds, for future reference.

6
Conclusions 

6.1 The evaluation successfully characterised both the stratigraphic sequence and archaeological potential of the site. No evidence for prehistoric, Roman or Saxon use of the site was apparent, but it is felt that if it had ever been present, disturbance in the post-medieval period, apparent in all trenches, would have removed such evidence. The evidence suggests that east and west sides of the site were being used in different ways and therefore represent different activities being carried out in two adjacent burgage plots: one behind 6, Hart Street, the other behind No.8. Today, the plot behind No.6 has been foreshortened: a brick building, now part of a property fronting Duke Street, is likely to be on land that was historically part of the site, and may have begun as a pair of cottages, part of the workmen’s courtyard known as Barlow’s Yard. 

6.2 The earliest significant feature on site is within the eastern plot: the flint foundation and associated spread of silty clay being likely to represent the remnant of a floor or sub-floor. The presence of a building behind the main property is a common and expected use of the land in the medieval period and later. The use of flint in a foundation could be of any period from the Roman period onward, but the fact that a later quarry pit does not cut into the foundation suggests that it may have been razed shortly before the digging of the pit, and the quarry-diggers knew there was a substantial foundation present. The section through Trench 1 that shows the relationship between the pit and the wall suggests that the ground was effectively levelled to subsoil level, so it seems that the foundation was visible, and may have been a useful solid edge for a pit that was excavated through fairly loose gravel. 

6.3 The requirements for gravel in the post-medieval period are many and varied, but commonly it was used for surfacing roads and yard areas. The excavation of the pit would have provided an income through sale of gravel, but resulted in a potentially hazardous pit around 1.80m deep. This hazard may be the cause of the apparent rapid infilling: the pit was not later used for primarily household waste since there were insufficient quantities of dumped material. The latest filling of the pit with a layer of chalk, redeposited brickearth and topsoil may be a secondary filling after the initial fills had slumped and compacted. If this was upcast from excavations for a basement under one of the new cottages, then the pit was finally filled directly before the cottages were built.

6.4 The western plot, behind 8, Hart Street, contained the remnants of a post-hole, but with no dating evidence and no associated features, its significance is low. What is apparent is the repeated disturbance of the soil for minor agriculture and subsistence, probably since the 19th century.

6.5 Cottages were present on site by the 1840s (AOC 2005). The title deeds only refer to some cottages, so possibly there is a piecemeal development of the cottages rather than their being built in one phase.

6.6 The requirement for further work is the decision of the archaeology monitor. This is likely to also depend on the foundation design, but it seems the only area of potential archaeological interest is that behind 6, Church Street, in the area of Trench 1.
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APPENDIX A – CONTEXT REGISTER

	Context
	Description
	Length/m
	Width/m
	Depth/m
	Finds

	1/001
	Intrusive service trench
	5.00
	0.60
	1.25
	-

	1/002
	Brick Floor
	5.50
	2.80
	0.10
	CBM Sample

	1/003
	Sandy clay, made ground
	5.50
	2.20
	0.48
	-

	1/004
	Dump of clay with CBM
	5.50
	2.80
	0.53
	CBM

	1/005
	Dump of crushed chalk
	5.50
	2.80
	0.12
	-

	1/006
	Upper fill of pit 1/008
	4.50
	2.40
	0.71
	Pot, CBM, Bone

	1/007
	Primary fill of pit 1/008
	3.64
	1.60
	0.95
	Pot, CBM, Bone, CTP

	1/008
	Pit or quarry
	4.09
	2.40
	1.74
	-

	1/009
	Heavily truncated floor surface
	1.05
	0.30
	0.05
	-

	1/010
	Flint foundation
	2.22
	0.30
	0.16
	-

	1/011
	Subsoil
	2.28
	0.68
	0.35
	-

	1/012
	Brickearth
	2.32
	0.72
	0.30
	-

	1/013
	Gravel
	4.09
	2.80
	>1.10
	-

	1/014
	Cut for foundation 1/010
	2.22
	0.38
	0.16
	-

	1/015
	Backfill of 1/015
	2.22
	0.4
	0.16
	-

	
	
	
	
	
	

	2/001
	Brick and flint cellar wall
	2.10
	0.24
	1.80
	-

	2/002
	Made ground
	2.64
	2.10
	0.30
	-

	2/003
	Tile dump
	2.64
	2.10
	0.09
	-

	2/004
	Garden soil
	2.64
	2.10
	0.94
	Pot, Bone, CTP, Glass

	2/005
	Subsoil
	2.64
	2.10
	0.18
	-

	2/006
	Gravel
	5.00
	2.10
	NFE
	-

	2/007
	Cut for cellar
	2.34
	2.10
	1.94
	-

	2/008
	Backfill of cellar
	2.16
	2.10
	1.84
	-

	2/009
	Primary cellar deposit
	2.16
	2.10
	0.10
	-

	
	
	
	
	
	

	3/001
	Brick Floor
	2.20
	2.00
	0.50
	-

	3/002
	Made Ground
	5.00
	2.00
	0.90
	Pot

	3/003
	Garden Soil
	5.00
	2.00
	0.42
	Pot, CBM, Metal, CTP

	3/004
	Subsoil
	5.00
	2.00
	0.27
	CBM

	3/005
	Fill of posthole
	0.31
	0.28
	0.11
	-

	3/006
	Posthole
	0.31
	0.28
	0.11
	-

	3/007
	Brickearth
	5.00
	2.00
	0.05
	-


APPENDIX B – FINDS REPORTS

POTTERY






       Lucy Whittingham 

Introduction and methodology

The post-Roman pottery assemblage comprises 77 sherds from a minimum of 52 vessels, with a total weight of 4616g. The finds come from 6 contexts, all of them small (i.e. fewer than 30 sherds). All of the pottery has been identified and dated thereby calculating a spot date for each context. The pottery has been recorded on an Excel spreadsheet, in accordance with standard MoLSS procedure, using current fabric, form and decoration codes. Minimum quantification by sherd count, Estimated Number of Vessels (ENV) and weight in grams was also carried out. The assemblage is primarily post-medieval with one context (1/007) producing material of a mixed date. The condition of the pottery is fairly good with a number of vessels preserved in complete profile. 

Medieval wares

A total of 2 sherds of medieval pottery (12g) were recovered from Context 1/007. These are both small abraded sherds of Surrey Whiteware; coarse border ware (CBW) and a locally produced coarse sand-tempered cooking pot fabric, possibly from Camley Gardens kiln site, near Maidenhead (Pike 1965) dating from between 1270 to 1400. Both of these sherds are from the primary fill of Pit 1/008 in which they likely to be residual.

Post-medieval 

The post-medieval assemblage of 75 sherds is comprised almost entirely of late 17th to 18th-century coarsewares in four contexts with a further two small assemblages of late 18th to 19th-century date. These later industrial finewares occur as distinct separate groups in Contexts 2/008 and 3/002. A small number of the red earthenware vessels are well-preserved and include near complete examples. 

The majority of the late 17th to 18th-century coarseware vessels are found in post-medieval red earthenwares which may date from the late 16th to the early 20th centuries. In these particular examples the forms are characteristic of a late 17th to 18th-century date including deep bowls, handled bowls, flanged dishes, some with slip-tail decoration, porringers, chamber pots, storage jars and a possible jug. These basic utilitarian domestic vessels occur primarily in post-medieval redwares (coarse and fine) which may be the product of the nearby Nettlebed industry, as well as in Surrey-Hampshire border redware. An 18th-century date is supported by the presence of various tin-glazed earthenware ointment pots, plates and dishes, a Staffordshire mottled ware mug, a dish in Verwood earthenware and a near complete example of a London stoneware spouted tankard, all of a similar date.

A small number of imports include a Chinese export plate with famille rose decoration imported to Britain between 1720 and 1800 and two examples of Rhenish stonewares Frechen bartmann jugs which are imported late into the 17th-century.

These late 17th to 18th-century wares all occur within closely-dated assemblages in Contexts 1/006 and 1/007, both part of Pit 1/008 and in Contexts 2/004 and 3/003 which are both garden soil. 

Two small assemblages of late 18th to 19th-century industrial finewares include examples of tableware; a pearlware transfer-printed bowl, part of a transfer-printed serving dish and a plain refined whiteware plate. These wares should be noted as only being associated with Contexts 2/008 and 3/002, both ‘made ground’. 

	Context
	Fabric name
	Form
	Date
	Context Date

	1/006
	FREC
	JUG 
	1550-1700
	1650-1700/1800

	
	METS -type
	DISH
	1630-1700
	

	
	PMFR
	BOWL DP
	1480-1600
	

	
	PMFR
	BOWL DP
	1480-1600
	

	
	PMFR
	BOWL DP
	1480-1600
	

	
	PMFR
	
	1480-1600
	

	
	PMFR
	
	1480-1600
	

	
	PMFR
	JUG?
	1480-1600
	

	
	PMR
	BOWL DP
	1580-1900
	

	
	PMR
	BOWL DP
	1580-1900
	

	
	PMR
	
	1580-1900
	

	
	STMO
	JUG 
	1650-1800
	

	
	TGWC
	OINT
	1630-1800
	

	
	VERW
	DISHFL
	1600-1900
	

	
	
	
	
	

	1/007


	BORDG
	JUG
	1550-1700
	1580-1700

	
	CBW
	BOWL?
	1270-1500
	

	
	MED
	
	1200-1400
	

	
	PMFR
	
	1480-1600
	

	
	PMR
	
	1580-1900
	

	
	
	
	
	

	2/004
	BORDG
	
	1550-1700
	1670-1800/1900

	
	CHPO ROSE
	PLATE
	1720-1800
	

	
	FREC
	JUG BART
	1550-1700
	

	
	LONS
	TANK SP
	1670-1900
	

	
	METS-type
	DISH
	1630-1700
	

	
	PMFR
	BOWL HAND
	1480-1600
	

	
	PMFR
	
	1480-1600
	

	
	PMFR
	JUG
	1480-1600
	

	
	PMFR
	BOWL DP/ST
	1480-1600
	

	
	PMFR
	JAR GLOB
	1480-1600
	

	
	RBOR
	BOWL SHL
	1550-1900
	

	
	RBOR
	PORR
	1550-1900
	

	
	RBOR
	CHP
	1550-1900
	

	2/004

2/004
	TGWD
	PLATE
	1630-1680
	

	
	TGWD
	DISH
	1630-1680
	

	
	
	
	
	

	2/008
	TPW2
	
	1807-1900
	1807-1900

	
	
	
	
	

	3/002
	PEAR TR2
	BOWL
	1807-1830
	1807-1830

	
	REFW
	PLATE
	1800-1900
	

	
	
	
	
	

	3/003


	PMFR
	DISHFL
	1480-1600
	1580-1800/1900

	
	PMFR
	BOWL DP?
	1480-1600
	

	
	PMFR
	BOWL RND/SHL
	1480-1600
	

	
	RBOR
	JAR ST
	1550-1900
	

	
	RBOR
	BOWL/JAR
	1550-1900
	

	
	RBORB
	BOWL DP?
	1580-1800
	

	
	TGW 
	ALB SM
	1570-1800
	


Table: pottery fabrics, forms and date

Analysis of Potential

The potential for further intrinsic analysis of this assemblage is limited. It is of value, however, as a dating tool since all of the assemblages can be closely-dated and occur in distinct areas of the site. Further publication of this material is not recommended but integration with the stratigraphic and chronological framework of the site is recommended as the pottery ‘spot-dates’ appear to compliment the historical interpretation of features on the site.

Significance of data

This assemblage is of little national significance but is of local significance as a collection of primarily locally-produced 18th-century domestic household wares which are typical of sites in Henley upon Thames.
Bibliography

Pike, G. (1965) A medieval pottery kiln site on the Camley Gardens Estate, Maidenhead, Berkshire Archaeological Journal 62, 22-33

METAL







     Les Capon
Three metal finds were collected during the excavations: one fragment of an iron nail, part of the handle from a small copper alloy utensil, perhaps a teaspoon, and a copper thimble. 
	Context
	Material
	Object
	Comments

	1/007
	Fe
	Nail
	Fragment

	3/003
	Cu alloy
	Handle
	Fragment

	3/003
	Cu alloy
	Thimble
	Complete



The iron nail is fragmentary and of low archaeological value. The copper alloy handle is of limited value. The thimble is an indicator of sewing, but it cannot be proved if this derives from a cottage industry or is a personal possession. 


No further work is recommended on the metal finds.

BUILDING MATERIALS
Wall Tile 







    Ian M Betts

Summary/Introduction

There is a single fragment from an incomplete tin-glazed wall tile (Context 3/003). 

Wall tile

A tin-glazed wall tile was recovered from a garden soil horizon (Context 3/003). The tile has a landscape scene painted in blue on a white background in a circular border with corner decoration of barred ox-head type. The corner decoration suggests that the tile is of Dutch origin. Recent work by Betts and Weinstein (in prep) has shown that Dutch wall tiles were popular in the London area during the eighteenth and early ninetieth centuries AD, despite such tiles being made at pothouses located in and around the capital itself.

The tile shows a riverside view with buildings on the opposite bank. Such scenes were very popular in the eighteenth century AD, being used on tiles with a variety of different border or corner arrangements, or on tiles with no corners or borders. Similar landscape scenes on Dutch tiles are illustrated by van Dan (1991, 113, no. 136), van Sabben and Hollem (1987, 113, no. 378) and Schaap et al (1984, 136, 170 3-C). 

Dating of the tile is difficult as landscape scenes with the barred ox-head corner motif were made in the Netherlands for a considerable period. The style of decoration suggests it is probably eighteenth century AD, although an early nineteenth century AD date cannot be discounted. 


Analysis of Potential

The tile is of limited potential unless it can be related to a specific building. But it does indicate the importation of decorative Dutch tiles into Henley-upon-Thames during the eighteenth, or early nineteenth century AD.

Significance of data

Decorated wall tiles were principally used as decoration around fireplaces in the London area, which is probably the original position of the Hart Street tile. However, they could also be used to line the walls of dairies, as at Rainham House, East London and plain tiles were set on the base of walls as a skirting board, as at Ham house, Richmond. Whatever their position, they suggest a certain degree of wealth and prosperity of the house owner

Further Work

The tile merits illustration and discussion should the site findings be published.
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Introduction

A total of 39 fragments of roof tile, weighing 5.229kg, was recovered from the excavation.  A single sample of brick was retained, weighing 3.214kg. The brick and tile were recorded by fabric and quantified by fragment and weight.  No complete roof tiles were found, although surviving lengths, widths and thicknesses were recorded. The CBM is quantified by fabric (table 1) and presented by context (table 2).

	Fabric no
	Sherds
	Wt (kg)

	Brick
	1
	3.214

	1
	6
	0.648

	2
	8
	1.054

	3
	10
	1.856

	4
	2
	0.226

	5
	1
	0.034

	6
	4
	0.708

	7
	1
	0.028

	8
	1
	0.074

	9
	5
	0.550

	10
	1
	0.051


Table 1. CBM quantification by sherd count and weight

Description and assessment

A number of variations in fabric were recognised, as follows:

1. Very hard, almost vitrified, purple-red in colour, often but not invariably, with a grey core. Some white streaks where clay has been poorly mixed.

2. Light orange, sandy with white streaks and inclusions, the result of poorly mixed clay. Possibly a lower fired version on type 1.

3. Hard, orange throughout with a fairly dense texture. This is the most common of the fabric variations.

4. Orange sandy with the addition of frequent red inclusions, possibly iron ore.

5. Hard with buff surfaces and an intermittent blue-grey core. Possibly late medieval/transitional.

6. Buff-orange throughout, sandy with a crumbly texture, fairly low fired.

7. Buff-white sandy, with pink-orange intermittent core.

8. Particularly dense and hard, but not vitrified with a deliberately well-smoothed exterior surface and a grey core. Used only for pantiles.

9. Buff-brown with light grey intermittent core and white clay inclusions and red iron ore.

10. Fine, smooth red-brown pottery fabric. Used only for wheel-thrown drain pipes.

Tiles

The roof tiles are largely flat, unglazed peg-tiles with two round holes to take wooden pegs or iron nails for attachment to the roof. Wooden pegs are usually used with round holes, although this was not always the case. A fragment of tile from (3/003) has the remains of an iron nail adhering to it. It is, however, adhering to the break and not the hole, so this may be the result of post-depositional conditions in the garden soil. Two fragment of peg tile from (1/006) and (1/007) have circular imprints overlapping each other, where the hole has not been pushed all the way through. They had possibly been positioned incorrectly. One of the roof tiles in (1/007) appears to have been re-shaped: one of the broken edges has been deliberately smoothed and the resulting object may have been circular in shape, approximately 150mm in diameter. A single fragment from a pantile was found in (3/003) and a fragment of drain pipe in (1/006). 
The fabric of the tiles is largely oxidised orange sandy but there are a number of variations within this, suggesting different sources. They may have reached the site at different times, possibly as a result of roof repairs. Dating of these tiles is imprecise: they date broadly to the post-medieval period. There is one fragment, however, which may be earlier: a roof tile from (3/003). It is in fabric 5, the only example of this fabric, and is particularly thin, 12mm. It could be late medieval in date. 
No complete tiles were found and the width survived on only one example: 165mm. The thicknesses of the tiles range between 10mm and 15mm, with most measuring 13-15mm. Although there is some variation in the thickness within each individual tile, they are generally consistently regular.
Brick

The same type of brick was used in all the floors of the cottages and a single sample was retained. Measuring 225mm x 105mm x 65mm, there is no sign that it had been hand made and the sharp edges and density of the fabric suggest it was machine made. Machine-made bricks are known from the early 19th century, but become more common in the later 19th century (Cox 1979, 36). 

CBM was recovered only from trenches 1 and 3; there was none in the garden soil in trench 2 (table 2).  

	Context
	Interpretation
	Fabric code
	Fragments
	Weight (kg)

	1/002
	brick floor
	
	1
	3.214

	1/004
	dump of clay
	2
	1
	0.311

	
	
	3
	1
	0.290

	1/006
	upper fill pit 1/008
	1
	5
	0.614

	
	
	10
	1
	0.051

	
	
	2
	5
	0.556

	
	
	3
	4
	1.040

	
	
	6
	4
	0.708

	1/007
	primary fill pit 1/008
	2
	1
	0.123

	
	
	3
	2
	0.395

	
	
	9
	5
	0.550

	3/003
	garden soil
	1
	1
	0.034

	
	
	2
	1
	0.064

	
	
	4
	1
	0.101

	
	
	5
	1
	0.034

	
	
	7
	1
	0.028

	
	
	8
	1
	0.074

	3/004
	subsoil
	3
	3
	0.131

	
	
	4
	1
	0.125


Table 2. CBM by context

The assemblage has no further potential for analysis, although, as it was found in situ, the brick sample should be retained.
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Mortar

Mortar from the primary pit fill (1/007) was collected, and is coarse lime mortar with inclusions of very small gravel up to 2mm and pieces of chalk up to 1.5mm. It has irregular hollows, suggesting it may have been associated with a flint-walled building.

CLAY TOBACCO PIPE





     Les Capon
A total of 2 bowls and 7 stem fragments were found. Of note is the good condition of the pieces, indicating little disturbance since deposition. The bowls date from the mid 18th to early 19th century.

Both bowls are sufficiently complete to be classified and dated and are listed in the table below using Oswald’s general typology (Oswald, 1975, 37-41). There is one makers mark, ‘TS,’ on the spur of a bowl from 1700-1770 (ctx 2/004) is most likely a London pipe-maker. It would have been brought from London and then discarded, possibly manufactured by Thomas Selby.

	Context
	Type
	Quantity
	Date
	Comments

	1/007
	
	1
	
	Stem 

	
	
	
	
	

	2/004
	25
	1
	1700-1770
	Bowl has initials T and S

	
	
	1
	
	Stem 

	
	
	
	
	

	3/003
	28
	1
	1820-40
	Fluted bowl

	
	
	5
	
	Stems 


Table:  Table of clay pipes found

Conclusions

Although the fragments of clay pipe are dateable by the changes in style, an early date for a pipe does not necessarily indicate that the associated deposit is of that date, especially given the nature of the garden deposits, which could have been frequently reworked. The lack of no pipe later than the early 19th century confirms the expected date of the ensuing cottages built on site.
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GLASS


Two pieces from glass vessels were collected from the garden soil in trench 2 (2/004). One is the base of a small bottle in clear glass. It has a shallow punt. It is blown, not moulded. The other piece is a small piece of green bottle glass. They are of low significance.
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